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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE DEPUTY PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN
	Applicant
	:
	Miss J M D

	Scheme
	:
	The Local Government Pension Scheme

	Respondents
	:

:
	Broxtowe Borough Council (Broxtowe) (Employer)
The Secretary of State (represented by the Department for Communities and Local Government) (DCLG)


MATTERS FOR DETERMINATION 

1. Miss D asserts that Broxtowe did not properly consider her for ill health retirement in that they terminated her employment on the grounds of “incapacity due to ill health”, but did not refer her case to a qualified, independent occupational health adviser. She states that she made several formal requests to be referred over a period of 18 months, but was not referred until after her employment had been terminated and she had appealed.
2. There are aspects to Miss D’s case, which are more properly viewed as employment issues and which do not fall within my remit. I have not considered these in my investigation of her application and they are not included in this determination.

3. Some of the issues before me might be seen as complaints of maladministration while others can be seen as disputes of fact or law and indeed, some may be both.  I have jurisdiction over either type of issue and it is not usually necessary to distinguish between them.  This determination should therefore be taken to be the resolution of any disputes of fact or law and/or (where appropriate) a finding as to whether there had been maladministration and if so whether injustice has been caused.

MATERIAL FACTS

4. Miss D was employed by Broxtowe until May 2003, when her employment was terminated on the grounds of capability.
5. In 2001, Miss D went on maternity leave and was due to return to work on 17 December 2001. Miss D says that she met with Broxtowe’s Personnel Manager, her own line manager and a union representative on 27 November 2001, and explained that her GP would be signing her off on sick leave from 17 December 2001. She says she was then asked to see Broxtowe’s occupational health adviser, Dr Holmes, and had an appointment with him on 18 December 2001.
6. Broxtowe’s Personnel Manager wrote to Dr Holmes, on 30 November 2001, saying:

6.1. Miss D had been due to return from maternity leave on 17 December 2001.

6.2. She had asked to take a career break, but, for operational and managerial reasons, this had not been agreed. It had been agreed that Miss D could return to her post on a job share basis.

6.3. She had met with Miss D, Miss D’s line manager and a union representative and Miss D had informed them that she would not be returning to work on 17 December 2001. Miss D had been unable to say what the reason would be or what her GP would put on her sick note.
6.4. Miss D had agreed to an appointment with Broxtowe’s counsellor and she was happy to visit the occupational health adviser.

6.5. She asked Dr Holmes to assess Miss D and the reasons why she would not be returning to work. She said that she understood, from Miss D, that she would like to return to work, but the timescale was unclear.

7. In his response, of 18 December 2001, Dr Holmes said:
“We had a long and I hope helpful discussion about the problems she has experienced … In this context, I think it is important to understand that her decision to seek an alternative to returning to work at the end of her maternity leave was an attempt on her part to be constructive about feeling insufficiently well to return to work. Her illness has been moderately severe, and she has had the attention of her GP and a counsellor. She has co-operated with their advice about treatment. Her GP has advised that she should not return to work yet.

[Miss D] has felt unable to share this with staff at Broxtowe because she was hoping to have recovered from this by the end of the year, but that has not proved to be the case.

I share Dr. Griffith’s view that she is not fit yet to be back at work and I think decisions about her longer terms plans for work should be put to one side until she is well enough to make a proper decision about the future.

I think it likely that Dr. Griffith will issue her with a certificate which may say something rather vague. GPs often do this when they seek to protect patients’ confidentiality at work, and I think that is entirely reasonable.

I would suggest you ask [Miss D] to see me again in a month or so, so that she can keep me informed of developments and we can make sure that the appropriate people are kept informed whilst protecting her entirely reasonable desire for confidentiality.”

8. The Personnel Manager wrote to Dr Holmes, on 24 April 2002, asking him to reassess Miss D, advise of her progress and the likelihood of her return to work, with timescales. Miss D attended an appointment with Dr Holmes on 13 May 2002. Following that appointment, Dr Holmes wrote to the Personnel Manager:
“[Miss D] has clearly been struggling with a difficult and protracted illness …

I think it is fair to describe this as a moderate to severe illness which has been responsible for many of the symptoms that she has experienced during this time … She has been treated with several different medicines by her GP with limited success.

In addition she has been referred to a nurse practitioner for support and had a consultation with a consultant psychiatrist in March. It has been recommended that she has weekly cognitive behavioural therapy. Unfortunately the scarcity of all these resources within the National Health Service has meant that she has found it extremely difficult to obtain the treatment which has been recommended for her. This problem itself has undoubtedly contributed to her struggling to recover. I understand, however, that [Miss D’s] consultation with the cognitive behavioural therapist is scheduled for 11th June 2002.

In summary, I consider that she has an illness whose onset was around the time of the birth of her son and for which treatment has only been partly successful to date.

The natural history of such illness is usually one of resolution, and treatment such as CBT often speeds up that process. Unfortunately it is very difficult to predict with confidence how speedy that will be.

I share her GP’s opinion that she is not fit to be at work at the moment, but I do feel that it would be helpful to be able to say to her GP the offer that when she feels [Miss D] is approaching the time when a return to work is reasonable, then a structured, graduated return to work could be negotiated with her employers.”

9. The Personnel Manager wrote to Dr Holmes again, on 1 October 2002, asking him to reassess Miss D. She said that Miss D had informed her that she was seeing a cognitive behavioural therapist and that she was taking medication, which had been prescribed by her psychiatrist. The Personnel Manager said that Miss D wished to return to work on a part time basis, but did not know when this would be.
10. Miss D had a further meeting with Dr Holmes on 21 October 2002, following which he wrote to Broxtowe’s Personnel Manager:
“Thank you for asking me to review this lady, who as you well know I have examined on several previous occasions. We had a long consultation today, and I felt that there had been some genuine improvement in her condition, very probably associated with the much increased confidence that she has in her current cognitive behavioural therapist, with whom she is working on a weekly basis.

I don’t need to tell you, however, how difficult it is to predict improvement in these conditions, or how easy it is to be misled by findings on an individual day.

I have looked through the questions that you have posed, which I thought were very sensible, and which I would answer as follows:

1.
Is she capable of undertaking the duties of …

On the basis of her replies today, my answer to this must be ‘no’ as she says she does not leave the house much, is unable to concentrate for more than a minute or so and finds herself unable to read.

2.
Would she be able to undertake alternative work and if so what type of post …

Given that most of her symptoms involve such higher mental functions as concentration and planning, a temporary placement with fewer managerial responsibilities may help an eventual return to normal duties …

3.
Should she return on a full time or reduced hours basis, and what would be the likely time scales for a return to work?
I do think it ought to be on the basis of reduced hours, with a plan to increase back to her previous full time role …

4.
What reasonable adjustments may be needed …

…

5.
Are her current medical circumstances directly related to her pregnancy?

I think I can say no more that they are ‘probably’ related to this. She had no history of trouble prior to her pregnancy and I have not found any evidence of an alternative explanation for her symptoms.

6.
Please provide clarification as to the significance of ‘fatigue’?

I think it is important to be clear that fatigue is a symptom not a diagnosis or an illness. It is a feature of many conditions.

7.
Should her circumstances be classified as a disability under the DDA?

…

8.
Is she suitable for retirement on the grounds of ill health?

My view is that this would not qualify her in this regard, as the likelihood is more probable than not that she will be able to return to work. She therefore would not satisfy the criterion that her condition would need to prevent her from working up to the age of sixty five.”

11. Miss D met with the Personnel Manager, her own line manager and a union representative, on 15 November 2002. She has provided a copy of her notes of that meeting. Her notes state that the Personnel Manager discussed Dr Holmes’ letter with her and asked her to expand on his comments, which she was reluctant to do because she felt that Dr Holmes should be asked to do so. Miss D recorded that she suggested that it might be beneficial for Dr Holmes to consult with her own doctors and was told that this was not necessary if Dr Holmes had declined to do so. She recorded that she gave the meeting an update on her current state of health and the details of her treatment. Miss D recorded that the Personnel Manager said that she and Miss D’s line manager would put together a draft return to work plan, incorporating Dr Holmes’ recommendations. She recorded that she asked for there to be input from her own doctors because they knew, better than anyone, what her state of health was.
12. There were further meetings, during December 2002, to discuss Miss D’s return to work plan. Miss D states that, during a telephone conversation with the Personnel Manager, she asked to be referred to Dr Holmes and was refused. Following discussions with her GP and her therapist. Miss D, herself, arranged a further appointment with Dr Holmes, on 6 January 2003. Miss D has provided a copy of her notes from her consultation with Dr Holmes. Amongst other things, her notes state that she informed Dr Holmes that she had been diagnosed as suffering from obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD), in addition to depression. She recorded that she asked Dr Holmes if she would be considered for ill health retirement if she was unsuccessful in returning to work. Miss D recorded that Dr Holmes was of the opinion that, because of her age, ill health retirement would only be considered if she was suffering from a terminal illness or if her illness was still with her in the future, e.g. in five years’ time. Miss D says that Dr Holmes sent her a letter following the consultation, which he asked her to comment on before he sent it to Broxtowe. She says that she wrote to him on 20 January 2003, asking him to expand on his letter because she felt it was too brief, but did not receive a reply.
13. Miss D met with her line manager and Broxtowe’s Personnel Manager on 9 January 2003. I have been provided with copies of Broxtowe’s notes of this meeting and also those taken by Miss D, herself. Broxtowe’s notes were taken by Miss D’s line manager and state that the Personnel Manager discussed various options with Miss D, including resignation, and provided her with information concerning payments she would be entitled to. Miss D confirms that she was given information about the payments which would be made to her if she resigned, but states that she had not asked for these. Broxtowe’s notes state that they had not received a letter from Dr Holmes at that time, but that he was of the opinion that Miss D was not fit to return to work. Their notes state that Miss D confirmed that she had received a draft of Dr Holmes’ letter and that she thought it was very brief, but that she agreed with the content and would be returning it to Dr Holmes for issue. The Personnel Manager then left the meeting. Miss D says that she told her line manager that it was not her intention to resign and he confirms this in his notes. Miss D also states that, when the Personnel Manager rejoined them, she asked the Personnel Manager if she had spoken to Dr Holmes and was told that she had not.
14. Miss D wrote to the Personnel Manager, on 10 February 2003, concerning Broxtowe’s capability procedure and asking that she have a further meeting with Dr Holmes. With regard to ill health retirement, Miss D said:

“… Dr Holmes was asked this question in October 2002, several months ago and has not been asked to update his opinion. At this time, Dr Holmes was not in possession of a full diagnosis from my Doctor and therefore did not have all the facts to consider. Although I have given full consent, Dr Holmes has declined the opportunity to get the full diagnosis from my Doctor.

… The Pension Regulations state that the Doctor who is asked to make this decision “must not have previously been involved in my case”. I have sought clarification on this matter … this means if you have previously seen a particular occupational health doctor, then a different doctor must be used to answer the question of ill health retirement.

I am not saying that Dr Holmes’ opinion is not valid … but his answer … was:
· made several months ago;

· made before he was in possession of the full facts;

· not in compliance with the County’s Pension guidelines in that he was currently seeing me and therefore involved in my case:

I therefore request that you rectify this situation and … ensure that I am referred to an independent Occupational Health Doctor …

I would like to make it clear that I am not seeking ill health retirement as I would preferably like to return to normal duties at work. However, if you still hold the opinion that my ill health would prevent me from doing my job efficiently, should this option not be explored …”

15. Dr Holmes wrote to Broxtowe’s Personnel Manager, on 24 February 2003, saying:
“As you know from my previous correspondence and telephone conversations with you I have always been very careful not to disclose any information relating to my conversations with [Miss D] other than where I have specific consent to do so.

For the avoidance of doubt, it may be helpful for tomorrow’s meeting if I make clear that:

1. [Miss D] has not provided consent for me to disclose the report I produced following my consultation with her on the 6th January 2003.

2. [Miss D] has offered to provide consent for me to approach her clinical advisers. I did not feel this necessary following my consultation with her on the 6th January, but given the correspondence from [Miss D] since then, I now think that would be helpful. I have received consent to approach Dr. J. Griffith and Dr Whitehouse, and I will proceed if you wish me to do so. It may help your planning to note that, in keeping with her rights under the Access to Medical Reports Act, she has requested access to those reports before being forwarded to me.

I confirm my earlier advice that in the light of this continuing uncertainty, she should not be allowed to return to work until certified fit to do so by her General Practitioner. It may be appropriate to discuss with me at that point the arrangements you plan for her return.”

16. Broxtowe held a capability hearing on 25 February 2003. Miss D has expressed considerable concern about the conduct of the capability procedure. As an employment matter, this is, for the most part, outside the scope of this investigation. Following that meeting, the Personnel Manager wrote to Dr Holmes explaining that the Department Director had asked for further information about Miss D’s illness and ability to return to work to be provided by 31 March 2003. The Personnel Manager asked Dr Holmes to approach Miss D’s clinical advisers. Amongst other things, she asked Dr Holmes to comment on Miss D’s suitability for retirement on the grounds of ill health.
17. Miss D had a consultation with Dr Holmes on 31 March 2003. Following this, he wrote to the Personnel Manager:

“Thanks to her considerable efforts I had previously received the reports from Dr. Jeremy Griffiths, (General Practitioner) and from Dr. Gethins (locum consultant psychiatrist, standing in for her usual consultant, Dr. Whitehouse, who is currently away on absence due to illness).

In response to the question of her current fitness to be at work, their responses included the following comments:

1. Dr. Griffiths comments ‘I personally do not believe she is fit for work’

2. Dr. Gethins comments ‘In my opinion she is not yet fit to return to work’

My opinion therefore is that [Miss D] is not fit to return to work, and in keeping with my previous advice a plan should not be made for a return to work until such time as we receive notice from her General Practitioner that he considers her fit to do so.”

18. Dr Holmes wrote to the Personnel Manager again, on 2 April 2003:

“The letter sent to Broxtowe was approved by [Miss D] and provided consent specifically limited to that. I do not know whether [Miss D] will be willing for the reports to be released to you. This would not be considered normal practice and many clinicians would only prepare a letter on the understanding that it was released to a clinician acting for management and not management directly. If you wish to pursue this you would need to approach [Miss D] for consent in that regard.

I consider her unfit to return to work until such time as we receive confirmation from her GP that she is fit to return to work …

I confirm my earlier opinion that I do not consider her suitable for ill-health retirement at the moment, as this requires me to confirm that she has a condition, which, on the balance of probabilities, will prevent her from returning to this or similar work until the age of 65. I do not think it is possible to confirm with confidence her progress over this long period of time and that decision may need to be reviewed in the light of her subsequent progress.”

19. A further meeting was held on 10 April 2003. This was attended by the Personnel Manager, Miss D’s line manager, Miss D and a union representative. Miss D has provided a copy of her notes of the meeting. She recorded that she expressed the view that Dr Holmes’ report of 31 March 2003 was very brief and did not accurately represent the information provided by her consultant and her GP. Miss D recorded that her union representative asked that all options be considered, including ill health retirement. She recorded that the Personnel Manager said that Dr Holmes had said that Miss D did not satisfy the criteria for ill health retirement. Miss D recorded that she referred to the Local Government Pensions Committee (LGPC) Circular 113 and its reference to an independent medical adviser. She recorded that the union representative asked that Miss D be referred to an independent medical adviser, who had not previously seen her.
20. A further capability meeting was held on 12 May 2003. Following this meeting, the Department Director wrote to Miss D confirming that her employment was to be terminated.
21. Miss D applied, under Regulation 100, to the Appointed Person on the basis that her case had not been properly dealt with under the LGPS Regulations (see Appendix 2) and, in particular, that she had not been referred to an independent registered medical practitioner, qualified in occupational health medicine, within the meaning of the Regulations.
22. In their submission to the Appointed Person, Broxtowe submitted:
22.1. Between 17 December 2001 and 12 May 2003, Miss D was absent for 364 working days. Her doctor’s certificates during this period stated fatigue.
22.2. Miss D received continuous support, primarily from the Personnel Manager and her own line manager. She was encouraged to attend the Council’s offices during her absence, but did not maintain contact with members of her team.

22.3. Throughout her absence, Miss D refused to disclose to them the details of her illness or any long term prognosis. They relied on the restricted information which she provided to Dr Holmes.

22.4. Both formal and informal discussions were held with Miss D and she was informed, both formally and informally, that her employment could be at risk if she was unable to return due to ill health.

22.5. Miss D attended four appointments with Dr Holmes: on 18 December 2001; 13 May 2002; 21 October 2002; and 6 January 2003. Her absence was regularly reviewed.

22.6. At the capability hearing, on 25 February 2003, the Chief Officer considered: the Personnel Manager’s letter to Dr Holmes of 30 November 2001; Dr Holmes’ report of 18 December 2001; the Personnel Manager’s letter to Dr Holmes of 24 April 2002; Dr Holmes’ letter of 13 May 2002; Dr Holmes’ report of 13 May 2002; the Personnel Manager’s letter to Dr Holmes of 1 October 2002; Dr Holmes’ report of 21 October 2002; and Dr Holmes’ letter of 24 February 2003.

22.7. A summary of Dr Holmes’ findings from his meeting with Miss D on 21 October 2002 confirmed that:

· Miss D was not capable of undertaking the duties of her former post;

· Reasonable adjustments should involve a temporary reduction in managerial responsibility and return to work initially on a part time basis;

· Her condition would qualify under the Disability Discrimination Act (DDA) but could change in due course; and

· Miss D did not qualify for retirement on the grounds of ill health because she did not satisfy the criterion that her condition would prevent her from working up to the age of 65.
22.8. Miss D’s absence was detrimental to the effective operation of her department.

22.9. Two capability hearings were held. At each of the hearings, the department Director heard representations from the Personnel Manager, Miss D’s line manager, Miss D and a union representative. Careful consideration was given to (inter alia): whether sufficient medical evidence had been provided; and whether the evidence indicated whether or not Miss D would be able to return to her post and when.
22.10. At the February 2003 meeting, Miss D had said that she intended to return to work. She had asked to be referred to Dr Holmes because she did not think that he had a current diagnosis of her condition. She had refused to confirm, at the meeting, what her condition was. Miss D had referred to the LGPC Circular 113. The Regulations had been explained to her and she had been told that it was not appropriate for her to be referred to an independent medical adviser because Dr Holmes did not believe that she met the criteria for ill health retirement. Following the hearing, the Personnel Manager wrote to Dr Holmes asking (inter alia) whether Miss D was suitable for ill health retirement.
22.11. Following receipt of Dr Holmes’ reports of 31 March and 2 April 2003, a further capability meeting was held. It was decided that Miss D’s absence was having a detrimental effect on the section. Dr Holmes had confirmed that she was not fit to return to work at that time or in the near future. It was confirmed to Miss D that Dr Holmes did not believe that her illness fell within the Regulations to qualify for ill health retirement. She was told that, if she wished to be re-referred to Dr Holmes in the future, they would make the necessary arrangements at that time.
22.12. Throughout her absence, Miss D would not advise them of the condition she was suffering from. At the May 2003 meeting, she said that she was suffering from an anxiety disorder and secondary depression. It was only during preparation for an Employment Tribunal response that they were made aware that she had been diagnosed with OCD. They were aware that Miss D was receiving cognitive behavioural therapy.
22.13. They specifically asked Dr Holmes on several occasions whether he believed that Miss D was suitable for ill health retirement. They responded in accordance with the advice received from Dr Holmes. Miss D’s pension could not be released at the date of termination of her employment. If it was deemed appropriate, they would have no hesitation in re-referring Miss D to Dr Holmes.

23. During the course of his investigation into Miss D’s case, the Appointed Person decided to seek further medical advice. Miss D provided reports from her Consultant Psychiatrist, Dr Whitehouse, and a Locum Consultant Psychiatrist, Dr Walker, dated January and February 2004 respectively. She authorised the Appointed Person to disclose the reports to his medical adviser and also said that she was happy for them to be released to Broxtowe’s medical adviser, but not the Council. Miss D said that she accepted the Appointed Person’s advice that, should her appeal progress to a second stage, such further release might be necessary.
24. In his internal dispute resolution procedure (IDRP) stage one report, the Appointed Person said that he had considered the guidance produced by the Association of Local Authority Medical Advisers (ALAMA), which state:
“The majority of people suffering from [OCD] (66%) improve by the end of a year with cognitive behavioural therapy and high-dose serotonin receptor anti-depressants. The prognosis is worse for those with severe symptoms, co-existent with other medical illness, personality disorder or continuing stressful events in their life. Ill-health retirement is appropriate if the applicant has severe symptoms which have not been controlled by the above treatment.”

25. The Appointed Person stated that he sought specific advice as to whether: Miss D’s condition was typical of those individuals who did not improve by the end of a year; Miss D’s treatment had been successful; Miss D suffered from other co-existent medical illness, personality disorder or continuing stressful events in her life; her condition satisfied the permanent incapacity test under the LGPS Regulations.
26. The physician from whom the Appointed Person sought advice was Dr Poole, a Consultant Occupational Physician and co-author of the ALAMA guidelines. In his report, dated 20 August 2004, Dr Poole said:
“There is no doubt in my mind that [Miss D] is ill and struggling to cope with a very distressing illness. Neither is she fit, or has she been fit to return to work to do her job, with or without reasonable adjustments … or to any comparable job …

As pointed out by Dr Holmes she is only … with … years to do before the retirement age of 65 … The natural history of OCD is to improve over time and this is supported by longitudinal studies. For example … followed up over 100 patients with this condition for 40 years 48% of whom recovered and 83% improved. Whether [Miss D] is in the 48% or 52% groups is impossible to say with any certainty and only by reviewing her case at regular intervals could this be ascertained.

On the other hand the severity of [Miss D’s] symptoms and their association with recurrent depressions and with chronic feelings of anxiety are features associated with a poorer prognosis. It is also relevant that if at a later date her symptoms should abate or become less intrusive, she should not return to work (or a lifestyle) which is particularly stressful for fear of causing a recurrence of the illness.

So on the balance of probabilities I would say that in my opinion [Miss D] does meet the criteria for early retirement due to permanent incapacity as defined in the rules of the [LGPS]. I support therefore this appeal.”
27. The Appointed Person determined that the original decision, by Broxtowe, to terminate Miss D’s employment without immediate pension benefits, was incorrect in the light of the available medical evidence.

28. During the course of his investigation, the Appointed Person also asked Broxtowe to comment on the requirement, under Regulation 97(9), to obtain the opinion of an independent registered medical practitioner before making a decision as to whether a member was entitled to ill health retirement benefits. He also asked them to provide details of Dr Holmes’ qualifications.
29. In their response, Broxtowe said:

29.1. Miss D was seen by Dr Holmes on four occasions during her absence. Following each of these appointments, Dr Holmes formed the view that her condition did not fall within the Regulations for ill health retirement. They accepted this advice. Had Dr Holmes believed that Miss D was permanently incapable within the meaning of the Regulations, he would have confirmed this and they would have sought further advice from another independent occupational health physician, who had not been involved in the matter, who would then have made the decision as to ill health retirement.

29.2. Dr Holmes’ qualifications were FRCP, FRCGP, Dip. Occ. Med. (results awaited). There were two other occupational health advisers, based at the same practice, whose qualifications included Dip. Occ. Med.
30. Dr Holmes was also asked to clarify his qualifications.  He explained that he had been providing occupational health advice to a number of local authorities since 1998 and was familiar with the tightening up of the LGPS Regulations. He said that he had been awarded the Dip. Occ. Med. in May 2004, after a two year course of study. With regard to Regulation 97(9), Dr Holmes said that it had previously been agreed that the Dip. Occ. Med. qualification was only required for signing a certificate for ill health retirement and not for providing advice to the employer. He said that five members of his practice had gained the qualification and that the decision relating to Miss D had been made in conjunction with other members of his team, including a doctor who held the qualification in question. Dr Holmes said that he was entirely comfortable that the decision her had reached in relation to Miss D was the correct one.

31. With regard to these other issues, the Appointed Person found:

31.1. When Broxtowe asked Dr Holmes whether Miss D was suitable for ill health retirement, he should have referred the case to a colleague. There was a distinction between advising on employment related issues, where previous knowledge of a case was invaluable, and the very specific “pensions question”, where the Regulations required that the doctor advising should have had no previous involvement in the case.

31.2. The LGPS Regulations require the employer to seek independent medical advice before making a decision as to the member’s eligibility.

31.3. Dr Holmes was not independent within the meaning of the LGPS Regulations, but referring the case to one of his colleagues would have met the requirements of the Regulations.

31.4. At the time of advising Broxtowe as to Miss D’s eligibility for ill health retirement, Dr Holmes did not possess the qualification required by Regulation 97(14)(b).

31.5. These shortcomings did not amount to maladministration.
32. In response to the Appointed Person’s decision, Broxtowe said:

“You are aware that this Council would always positively consider ill health retirement if the appropriate recommendations were received from the medical specialists.

It is clear that you have been able to obtain additional information which was not available to the Council or its medical advisor when the decision was taken, in May 2003.

I have noted that Dr Poole has considered all the information available to him and the additional information provided to him. This has enabled him to make a decision in August 2004 that, on the balance of probabilities the criteria for ill health retirement has been met. It is noted that the balance of probability test was introduced from 1 June 2004 and replaces the “incapable until at the earliest age 65” test, which was available when the decision was made by the Council in May 2003.
However on behalf of the Council, there is a wish to conclude this whole matter and cause no further delay to payment of entitlements to Ms D which you have determined.

Therefore your substantive decision to direct the retrospective awarding of ill health retirement benefits is accepted.”

33. Miss D’s benefits were put into payment in December 2004, with effect from May 2003, together with interest for late payment.

34. Miss D submitted an appeal to the Secretary of State, under Regulation 102, on 8 March 2005. She stated that her appeal was not in respect of the Appointed Person’s decision concerning her eligibility for ill health retirement, but in respect of his decision concerning maladministration on the part of Broxtowe.

35. The Secretary of State issued a decision, under Regulation 103, on 19 May 2005. The Secretary of State determined:
35.1. Regulation 27 gives entitlement to the immediate payment of benefits in ill health grounds where a suitably qualified, independent medical practitioner has certified that the member is permanently incapable, within the meaning of the Regulations, and employment has ceased on that account.
35.2. The reason for the cessation of employment is an employment matter, which the Secretary of State had no power to consider.
35.3. The question of entitlement to LGPS benefits on ill health grounds only arose following the termination of employment.

35.4. The question for consideration by the Secretary of State was whether Broxtowe’s failure to properly consider Miss D’s eligibility for the immediate payment of benefits, following the termination of her employment, amounted to maladministration leading to financial loss or injustice.
35.5. The Regulations required Broxtowe, where employment had been terminated on the grounds of medical capability, to refer the question of whether the criteria for immediate payment of benefits were satisfied to an appropriately qualified, independent medical practitioner. Medical advice, under Regulation 97(9), must be sought whenever ill health is a factor in terminating employment, not just when the Council believed that a pension might be payable. The purpose of this provision was to determine independently whether benefits were payable, not to ratify a view the Council had already reached.

35.6. Broxtowe had failed to reach a decision after taking medical advice as required by Regulation 97(9), and were in breach of their statutory duty.
35.7. Whether this breach, on its own, was sufficiently far beyond simple error or misunderstanding and sufficiently serious to constitute maladministration was a moot point. A one-off breach, which was subsequently put right, was not of the same order as repeated breaches or a failure or refusal to put right the consequences of a breach. There was no evidence of repeated breaches by Broxtowe and they had put matters right by putting Miss D’s benefits into payment. Whilst Broxtowe’s handling of Miss D’s case was at fault and less than satisfactory, there was no compelling evidence of maladministration.

35.8. Whether or not there was maladministration on the part of Broxtowe, there was no compelling evidence of financial loss or injustice.

35.9. The IDRP provided a mechanism to review decisions and had resulted in the payment of Miss D’s benefits. Therefore no injustice had arisen.

35.10. There was no evidence to indicate that Miss D had been required to seek advice in order to access the IDRP. She might have suffered some inconvenience and delay in the payment of her benefits, but the Regulations provided for the payment of interest and, thus, any financial loss would be mitigated.

35.11. In any event, the Secretary of State had no powers to award compensation even when it had been shown that maladministration had led to financial loss or injustice.

SUBMISSIONS
Miss D

36. Miss D submits:

36.1. Broxtowe failed to consider her application for ill health retirement benefits properly.
36.2. Her requests to be referred to an independent registered medical practitioner who was qualified in occupational health medicine were refused.

36.3. The doctor used by Broxtowe did not have the occupational health qualification required by the LGPS Regulations and was not independent, within the meaning of the Regulations.

36.4. In January 2003, her consultant wrote a detailed report for her GP setting out his opinion that her condition was permanent and that ill health retirement was appropriate. Neither Broxtowe nor Dr Holmes wished to see this report. She informed Dr Holmes of her consultant’s opinion, but he decided not to take the advice of her consultant and determined that her condition did not qualify her for ill health retirement.

36.5. Dr Poole requested copies of reports from her doctors before seeing her. These reports had been available to Broxtowe and Dr Holmes before the termination of her employment.

36.6. She had told Broxtowe at the final capability hearing that Dr Holmes’ comments did not concur with those of her own doctors, but was told that they were satisfied with Dr Holmes’ opinion.

36.7. Had the ALAMA guidelines been considered, there would have been a very different outcome in her case. The guidelines contain very specific guidance relating to her condition. Had Broxtowe followed these guidelines, she would have been awarded her benefits immediately.
36.8. The guidelines would not have been unknown to Broxtowe because they have been sent to all local authorities and she was able to access a copy from the internet.

36.9. She was told, on more than one occasion, by the Personnel Manager and Dr Holmes, that she was too young to be considered for ill health retirement.

36.10. Had she not appealed, under the IDRP, the injustice she had suffered would not have been put right.
36.11. She accepts that she was not required to seek legal advice in order to lodge an appeal. However, as an individual without legal training and suffering from a debilitating illness, how was she to know what to do next? She did try and seek free advice from a number of organisations, but none of them could give her advice specific to her own case and she was advised to seek the advice of a specialist lawyer. She did not immediately seek legal advice, but undertook considerable research herself. However, without that advice, she would not have been able to take on the appeal and put together a successful case. Her legal costs amounted to £6,096.73. She also incurred other costs (travel, postage, photocopying, etc.) in the region of £246.
36.12. It is a gross understatement for the Secretary of State to say that she suffered “some inconvenience and delay” in the payment of her pension. The time between her first request for ill health retirement and the actual determination was two years, which is a not insignificant period of time.

36.13. She spent every day of that two years worrying about her financial situation. She had to prepare and conduct her appeal on her own and was required to prepare and type every letter herself; sometimes spending up to twelve hours preparing a report.

36.14. The Secretary of State considers that there is no evidence of repeated breaches of Broxtowe’s duties. She considers that their repeated refusal to acknowledge her requests for referral to an independent medical adviser amounts to repeated breaches. That said, she is of the opinion that maladministration could be found without an individual having suffered repeated breaches of duty.
36.15. She has not been in employment since the termination of her employment with Broxtowe. She has been in full time education and this was encouraged by her doctors as a therapeutic measure. She receives support from her health team and key workers.
Broxtowe

37. Broxtowe submit:

37.1. The Appointed Person had the benefit of seeing reports prepared by Dr Whitehouse and Dr Walker in 2004, which they had not. Neither doctor is qualified to make an assessment under the LGPS Regulations. They accept that Dr Holmes was also not qualified for the purposes of the Regulations.
37.2. They accept that the Appointed Person sought advice from a consultant occupational physician who was appropriately qualified and who was independent within the meaning of the Regulations.

37.3. They have accepted Dr Poole’s advice that, on the balance of probabilities, Miss D does meet the criteria for ill health retirement. It has not been shown that this was the case in May 2003. They aver that the prognosis in the case of Miss D’s specific condition is that it becomes worse the longer it lasts.
37.4. The Appointed Person did not take the time differential into account when applying Regulation 27. However, they can produce no evidence as to Miss D’s capability beyond that which they had in May 2003 and upon which they based their decision.

37.5. They have taken on board the Appointed Person’s recommendation that a doctor not previously involved in a case should answer the pension question.
37.6. They do not accept that they were behaving in any other way than diligently and responsibly at any time. They honestly misinterpreted the Regulations in believing that Dr Holmes could advise them on which cases should be sent for independent referral. At all times, they were acting in good faith.
37.7. Dr Holmes had advised that, in his opinion, Miss D was not suitable for ill health retirement and, on that basis, they did not refer her for an independent view. They accept that this was incorrect and that, as a result, Miss D was required to appeal to the Appointed Person.

37.8. They consider that the Secretary of State properly considered Miss D’s appeal and they agree with his decision. The failure to refer the matter to an independent consultant was a simple matter of innocent error or misunderstanding and they responded promptly to the Appointed Person’s recommendation.

37.9. Miss D has maintained that she has paid approximately £7,000 in seeking legal advice leading up to the termination of her employment in May 2003. That is not a matter for the Ombudsman. They argue that Miss D has not quantified any loss whatsoever since the termination of her employment as her benefits were reinstated in full. There are no reports to substantiate any potential claims for loss resulting from stress or anxiety connected with the appeal process.

37.10. They should not be held responsible for any payments by Miss D since the date of the Appointed Person’s decision because the appeal has subsequently been against that decision and latterly against the decision of the Secretary of State.

37.11. Miss D has stated that the determination took two years. This is untrue. It took 19 months. Miss D would have had to undertake some effort to conduct her appeal. However, there is no way of quantifying what Miss D’s loss might be. Accordingly, they cannot currently offer her any recompense for alleged losses. This is particularly so in light of the fact that Miss D has highlighted the negativity of her personal circumstances without pointing out any of the positive aspects such as her family life. They believe also that Miss D has undertaken some employment during the period of the appeal.
37.12. It is untrue that Miss D was told that she was too young to be considered for ill health retirement. The Personnel Manager and Miss D’s line manager have been asked to comment on this. They believe that a misunderstanding may have occurred in that it would not be unnatural to comment to an individual of Miss D’s age, stating that they were permanently incapable of returning to work without a clear diagnosis, that it would be unusual to see a person of that age being made incapable of work until retirement age unless it was plain on the facts of the person’s condition that such would be the case. The last sick note received by the Council stated that Miss D was suffering from fatigue. Any such comment should not be misread by Miss D as inferring that she was too young to retire on the grounds of ill health. Such a statement would never have been made in those terms.

The DCLG

38. The DCLG submit:

38.1. The Secretary of State reached a proper and reasonable decision, based on the evidence available to him, and in accordance with the relevant regulations. His reasons are set out in his decision letter.

CONCLUSIONS

39. A pension is payable, under Regulation 27, if the member is permanently incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of his employment, or any other comparable employment, with his employing authority because of ill-health or infirmity of mind or body. ‘Permanently incapable’ and ‘comparable employment’ are defined at Regulation 27(5). The decision as to whether a member is eligible for the immediate payment of benefits under Regulation 27 is to be made by the employer.

40. The LGPS Regulations are now very prescriptive as to how this decision is to be reached. Under Regulation 97(9), an employer is required to obtain a certificate from an independent registered medical practitioner, who is qualified in occupational health medicine, as to whether in his opinion the member is permanently incapable. The Regulation is quite clear that the certificate is to be obtained before the employer makes a decision. The qualifications necessary for the medical practitioner to provide such a certificate and what is meant by independent are all clearly laid out in the Regulations.
41. The Appointed Person identified two flaws in Broxtowe’s approach: that Dr Holmes did not, at the time, hold the qualification required, by the Regulations, in order to provide a certificate, and that Dr Holmes could not be considered independent for the purposes of the Regulations. Broxtowe have acknowledged that their process was flawed and say that they have taken on board the Appointed Person’s recommendations. They have explained that this was a misunderstanding on their part as to how the Regulations were to be implemented. I have seen no evidence to suggest that there was anything more sinister to Broxtowe’s approach, but I would recommend that they take more care in future to familiarise themselves with the Regulations and the guidance provided thereon by such bodies as the LGPC.
42. I do not subscribe to the view, expressed by the Secretary of State, that there must be repeated breaches of an employer’s duty in order for there to be maladministration. The question of maladministration must be determined on a case by case basis in order to address the individual member’s concerns. I doubt that it would be much comfort to a member of a pension scheme, wrongly denied a pension, to know that the employer had got it right in every other case.

43. I am satisfied that Broxtowe failed to make a decision under Regulation 97 properly in Miss D’s case, and I find that such failure amounts to maladministration on their part.

44. It is very easy to focus on the requirement to obtain a certificate under Regulation 97(9) and to lose sight of the requirement for the employer to make a decision. This requirement involves more than simply obtaining a certificate from an appropriately qualified medical practitioner and automatically accepting the opinion expressed therein. The Regulation does not provide for the employer to be bound by the opinion of the independent medical practitioner; to do so would be to transfer the decision making power to the medical practitioner. The employer, in this case Broxtowe, must make a decision.
45. There is nothing intrinsically wrong with an employer accepting the opinion expressed by the independent medical practitioner who has provided the required certificate. However, this should be the result of a careful weighing up of all the available evidence. This is particularly so where there is conflicting medical opinion, which the employer has either seen or been notified of. I would expect to see some evidence that the employer had, at least, considered the alternative opinion(s) before making a decision. They can only do so, of course, if the member has already provided the alternative evidence or they have sought consent from the member to have sight of the alternative evidence.
46. Broxtowe will argue that they were not provided with any evidence to counter the advice given by Dr Holmes. They have repeatedly argued that Miss D did not, or was unwilling to, disclose the nature of her illness to them. They point out that the doctor’s certificates provided during Miss D’s sick leave merely referred to ‘fatigue’. Broxtowe were, however, made aware (by Dr Holmes), as far back as December 2001, that such vague references were likely to be adopted by Miss D’s GP in order to protect her confidentiality. It is disingenuous of them to try to suggest that they were not aware that Miss D was suffering from something other than ‘fatigue’.
47. There will be circumstances when a member is reluctant to disclose the nature of their illness to their employer; this may be particularly so with mental illness. It needs to be explained (sympathetically) to the individual concerned that, because it is the employer who is to make the decision as to their eligibility for ill health retirement, such disclosure may be necessary. Having said this, I am not suggesting that it is for the individual to explain the nature of their illness to the employer. The correct approach would be, as I have already said, for the individual to be asked to give consent for their doctors to be approached for reports and for those reports to be released to the employer. I have seen no evidence to suggest that Broxtowe ever considered that they should review the opinions expressed by Miss D’s own doctors, even when they were made aware (by Miss D) that these might differ from that expressed by Dr Holmes.
48. Broxtowe’s approach was characterised by a marked reluctance, on their part, to do any more than rubberstamp Dr Holmes’ advice.

49. It is true to say that the IDRP provides the opportunity for a member to appeal against the employer’s decision. In Miss D’s case, this resulted in her receiving her benefits. I do not agree with the Secretary of State that this means that no injustice has arisen as a consequence of the failure, on the part of Broxtowe, to consider Miss D’s case properly in the first instance. It would be more correct to argue that any injustice has, in the main, been redressed.
50. Both Broxtowe and the Secretary of State have focused largely on whether Miss D had suffered financial loss as a consequence of maladministration. Injustice is not, of course, confined to financial loss. I can, and do, also consider whether there has been injustice in the form of distress and inconvenience.
51. Broxtowe have acknowledged that Miss D “would have had to undertake some effort to conduct her appeal”. They then go on to suggest that, as there is no way of quantifying any “loss” arising out of this effort, they cannot offer her any recompense. I agree that Miss D was put to some “effort” to mount an appeal, which the evidence suggests it is more likely than not she would not have had to mount had Broxtowe properly considered her case in the first instance. I am satisfied that the Appointed Person and Dr Poole were reviewing the original 2003 decision. I note Broxtowe’s comment that Dr Poole had used the balance of probabilities test. Whilst this is now specifically referred to in the LGPS Regulations, it was nevertheless the test which was to be applied prior to the amendment to the Regulations; albeit by implication.
52. Broxtowe have also argued that Miss D has focused on the negative aspects of her situation rather than the positive. I think Miss D can be forgiven for focusing on the negative aspects of being diagnosed with a severe mental illness, losing her job as a consequence and being denied proper consideration of her entitlement to an ill health early retirement pension despite, in many respects, herself identifying the flaws in the procedure adopted.
53. I find that Miss D has suffered considerable distress and inconvenience as a result of maladministration on the part of Broxtowe and that this should be recognised; that distress made even more intense given the delicate health issues involved. I have made directions accordingly below.

54. Miss D has also asked me to consider the expenses she incurred in connection with the termination of her employment by Broxtowe. Whilst I have a great deal of sympathy for Miss D in the circumstances in which she finds herself, I am not persuaded that the pension aspects to her case required specialist advice. Once she embarked upon the IDRP, the mistakes made were identified and rectified by the Appointed Person and Secretary of State. Moreover, free advice was available to her from other sources, e.g. the pensions advisory service, TPAS. I cannot, of course, comment on the employment issues she was considering at the same time. Whilst I am not persuaded that it would be appropriate for me to direct payment of Miss D’s legal costs, she has clearly been forced to incur some reasonable and unavoidable miscellaneous expenses as a result of the maladministration identified above. My Direction seeks to provide some element of appropriate reimbursement. costs.

DIRECTIONS

55. I now direct that, within 28 days of the date hereof, Broxtowe shall pay to Miss D £750 in recognition of the distress and inconvenience caused to her by the maladministration I have identified, together with a £50 contribution towards her out of pocket expenses.

CHARLIE GORDON

Deputy Pensions Ombudsman

31 January 2008
APPENDIX 1
The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 (as amended)

56. At the time of Broxtowe’s decision not to grant Miss D ill health retirement, Regulation 27 provided:

“27.-(1)  Where a member leaves a local government employment by reason of being permanently incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of that employment or any other comparable employment with his employing authority because of ill-health or infirmity of mind or body, he is entitled to an ill-health pension and grant.

(2) The pension and grant are payable immediately.

(3) …

(4) …

(5) In paragraph (1)- 

“comparable employment” means employment in which, when compared with the member's employment-

(a) the contractual provisions as to capacity either are the same or differ only to an extent that is reasonable given the nature of the member's ill-health or infirmity of mind or body; and

(b) the contractual provisions as to place, remuneration, hours of work, holiday entitlement, sickness or injury entitlement and other material terms do not differ substantially from those of the member's employment; and

“permanently incapable” means incapable until, at the earliest, the member's 65th birthday.”
57. Regulation 97 provided:

“97.-(1) Any question concerning the rights or liabilities under the Scheme of any person other than a Scheme employer must be decided in the first instance by the person specified in this regulation.

(2) Any question whether a person is entitled to a benefit under the Scheme must be decided - 

(a) …

(b) in any other case by the Scheme employer who last employed him.

(3) That decision must be made as soon as is reasonably practicable after the earlier of the date the employment ends or …
…
(9) Before making a decision as to whether a member may be entitled under regulation 27 … on the ground of ill-health or infirmity of mind or body, the Scheme employer must obtain a certificate from an independent registered medical practitioner who is qualified in occupational health medicine as to whether in his opinion the member is permanently incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of the relevant local government employment because of ill-health or infirmity of mind or body.

(9A) The independent registered medical practitioner must be in a position to certify, and must include in his certification a statement, that - 

(a) he has not previously advised, or given an opinion on, or otherwise been involved in the particular case for which the certificate has been requested; and
(b) he is not acting, and has not at any time acted, as the representative of the member, the Scheme employer or any other party in relation to the same case.

 (10) If the Scheme employer is not the member's appropriate administering authority, before referring any question to any particular registered medical practitioner under paragraph (9) the Scheme employer must obtain the approval of the appropriate administering authority to their choice of registered medical practitioner.

…
(14) In paragraph (9)- 

(a) “permanently incapable” has the meaning given by regulation 27(5) and
(b) “qualified in occupational health medicine” means holding a diploma in occupational medicine (D Occ Med) or an equivalent qualification issued by a competent authority in an EEA State (which has the meaning given by the European Specialist Medical Qualifications Order 1995) or being an Associate, a Member or a Fellow of the Faculty of Occupational Medicine or an equivalent institution of an EEA State.”
58. The procedure for the resolution of disputes is to be found in Regulations 99 to 105; of these, Regulations 99 to 103 are relevant to Miss D’s case. They provided:
“Resolution of disputes
99.-(1) Each administering authority must appoint a panel of persons they consider to be suitably qualified for the purpose of resolving disagreements in respect of which an application is made under regulation 100 in cases where they are the appropriate administering authority.

…
(2) For this Chapter the persons appointed under paragraph (1) are “appointed persons”.

…
Right to apply for an appointed person to decide a disagreement

100.-(1) Where there is a disagreement about a matter in relation to the Scheme between a member … and a Scheme employer, the member … may-

(a) apply directly to the appropriate appointed person to decide the disagreement, or

(b) apply to the appropriate administering authority for them to refer the disagreement to an appointed person for decision.

…
Notice of decisions by appointed persons under regulation 100
101.-(1) A decision on the matters raised by an application under regulation 100 must be issued by the appropriate appointed person-

(a) to the applicant,

(b) to the Scheme employer, and

(c) if the Scheme employer is not the appropriate administering authority, to that authority,

by notice in writing before the expiry of the period of two months beginning with the date the application was received.

…
Reference of disagreement to the Secretary of State

102.-(1) Where an application about a disagreement has been made under regulation 1000, an application may be made to the Secretary of State to reconsider the disagreement by the person who applied under regulation 100 or the Scheme employer in question.

…
Notice of decisions by the Secretary of State under regulation 102
103.-(1) The Secretary of State must issue his decision on the matters raised by an application under regulation 102 to the parties to the disagreement by notice in writing before the expiry of the period of two months beginning with the date the application was received …”
APPENDIX 2

LGPC Circular No. 113 – March 2002

59. Circular 113 states:

“The new requirements from 1 April 2002
2.
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Amendment No. 2) Regulations 2001 [SI 2001/3401] introduced a requirement that, as from 1 April 2002, the approved independent medical practitioner who signs a certificate of permanent ill health or permanent infirmity of mind or body must be in a position to certify that:

a)
he/she has not previously advised, or given an opinion on, or otherwise been involved in the particular case for which the certificate has been requested, and

b)
he/she is not acting, and has not at any time acted, as the representative of the scheme member, the scheme employer or any other party in relation to the same case.

The implication is that the approved medical practitioner must be able to given an objective opinion based solely on the relevant medical evidence and free from any influence.

3.
This builds on the existing requirement that the employer, before making a decision on retirement benefits in cases where ill-health may be relevant, must obtain a certificate from an independent registered medical practitioner who is qualified in occupational health medicine and who is approved by the Pension Fund administering authority.


The regulations do not state whether an opinion should be obtained before or after the employment is ended. However, employers should be aware that if an opinion is obtained before the employment ends, the length of the period between obtaining an opinion and termination of employment might be an issue in any appeal against an employer’s decision.


…

4
…


Qualified in occupational health medicine – regulation 97 lists the qualifications that allow a medical adviser to be described as “qualified in occupational health medicine”. These are …

Some practical issues

5.
As from 1 April 2002, approved medical advisers:

a)
who have previously advised, or given an opinion on, or otherwise been involved in3 the particular case for which the certificate … has been requested, or

b)
who have acted, or have at any time acted, as the representative of the scheme member, the scheme employer or any other party in relation to the case


will not be able to sign the certificate … In such circumstances, the authority will need to put the case to another approved medical practitioner …

3 This wording would appear to preclude an approved medical adviser who has at any time in relation to the employee in question been involved in any way e.g. pre-employment screening, counselling during employment, etc.”
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